

Taxi Fare Methodology Inquiry

Consultation Paper

February 2013

Printed February 2013 Office of the Tasmanian Economic Regulator Level 5, 111 Macquarie Street, Hobart TAS 7000 GPO Box 770, Hobart TAS 7001 Phone: (03) 6233 6323 Fax (03) 6233 5666

ISBN 978-0-7246-5202-0

Copyright © Office of the Tasmanian Economic Regulator

INVITATION FOR SUBMISSIONS

The Regulator invites written comment on this document and encourages all interested parties to provide submissions addressing the matters discussed.

It is the Regulator's policy to publish all submissions on the Office of the Tasmanian Economic Regulator's (OTTER) website unless the author of the submission requests confidentiality in relation to the submission (or any part of the submission). Those parts of a submission that are requested to be confidential should be submitted as an attachment to that part suitable for publication.

The Regulator will not publish submissions which contain material that the Regulator believes is, or could be, derogatory or defamatory.

Submissions should be received by close of business on 3 April 2013.

To facilitate the publication of submissions on OTTER's website, submissions by email are preferred. Submissions and enquiries may be made to:

office@economicregulator.tas.gov.au

or to

Glenn Bounds (Assistant Director – Price and Service) Office of the Tasmanian Economic Regulator, GPO Box 770, Hobart 7001 Telephone: 03 6233 5603 Facsimile: 03 6233 5666

A copy of this Consultation Paper and the CIE's draft report may also be found at OTTER's website <u>www.economicregulator.tas.gov.au</u>.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1			
	1.1	REVIEW PROCESS AND EXPECTED TIMING	1
	1.2	STRUCTURE OF THIS CONSULTATION PAPER	1
	1.3	SUMMARY OF ISSUES FOR WHICH COMMENT IS SOUGHT	2
2	TA	XI INDUSTRY OVERVIEW	7
	2.1	THE TAXI INDUSTRY	7
	2.2	TAXI FARES IN TASMANIA	8
3	OB	JECTIVES OF TAXI FARE REGULATION	11
4	FA	RE STRUCTURE	15
	4.1	HIGHER FLAGFALL	15
	4.2	BOOKING FEE	16
	4.3	TARIFF 2	16
	4.4	TARIFF 3	17
	4.5	DE-REGULATION OF FARE COMPONENTS	18
	4.6	APPLICATION OF FARES INCREASES TO FARE COMPONENTS	23
5	со	ST WEIGHTS	25
	5.1	WHAT SHOULD BE INCLUDED IN THE TAXI COST MODEL?	25
	5.2	WHAT SHOULD THE WEIGHTS BE IN THE MODEL?	27
6	ine Ad	DEXATION, LEASE PLATES AND PRODUCTIVITY JUSTMENTS	29
	6.1	INDEXATION	29
	6.2	PLATE LEASE COSTS	
	6.3	DRIVER LABOUR COSTS	
	6.4	PRODUCTIVITY	34
7	FA	RE SETTING PROCESS	37
	7.1	INITIATION OF REVIEWS	

	7.2	LENGTH OF REGULATORY PERIOD	37
	7.3	TRIGGERS AND PASS THROUGHS	38
	7.4	CONSULTATION DURING REVIEWS	40
	7.5	AGENCY UNDERTAKING THE REVIEW	41
	7.6	FUNDING FUTURE REVIEWS	41
•			
8	API	PENDIX A: TERMS OF REFERENCE	43
8 9	API API VIC	PENDIX A: TERMS OF REFERENCE PENDIX B: TREATMENT OF PLATE LEASE COSTS IN TORIA AND NSW	43 47
9	API API VIC 9.1	PENDIX A: TERMS OF REFERENCE PENDIX B: TREATMENT OF PLATE LEASE COSTS IN TORIA AND NSW TREATMENT IN NSW	43 47 47
9	API API VIC 9.1 9.2	PENDIX A: TERMS OF REFERENCE	43 47 47 48

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Review process and expected timing

The Regulator received an official request from the Minister for Finance on the 31 August 2012 to undertake a taxi fare inquiry. The Regulator was requested to consider the method for setting fares, the indexation of fares and the relative weighting of fare related components. The full terms of reference can be found at Attachment A.

To assist in the inquiry, the Regulator has engaged the services of the consultancy firm the Centre for International Economics (the CIE). The CIE have prepared a draft report which accompanies this Consultation Paper.

In preparing its draft report the CIE, in conjunction with OTTER staff, undertook initial consultation with taxi industry stakeholders and community groups. The purpose of the consultation was to seek industry participant views and input and to obtain operational and cost information on the Tasmanian taxi industry.

The release of this Consultation Paper and the CIE's draft report signifies the completion of this first phase of work, as highlighted in grey in the table below.

Milestone	Date	
Release of Terms of Reference	31 August 2012	
Engage the CIE	1 October 2012	
Initial consultation	November 2012	
Receipt of the CIE's draft report	December 2012	
Release of the Regulator's Consultation Paper and the CIE's draft report	15 February 2013	
Submissions due	3 April 2013	
The Regulator's report submitted to the Transport Commission	31 May 2013	

This Consultation Paper highlights, and the CIE's accompanying draft report discusses, issues associated with the current approach to setting fares and possible future methods. At this stage, the Regulator has not formed any views on whether it is appropriate to change the current approach. The Regulator therefore invites all interested parties, to make submissions to the inquiry on the issues highlighted in this paper, as well as any other matter relevant to the Terms of Reference at Attachment A.

1.2 Structure of this Consultation Paper

This Consultation Paper has been prepared to help stakeholders provide meaningful input into the Inquiry. The paper is structured as follows:

- Chapter 2 provides an overview of the taxi industry and the current fare setting arrangement;
- Chapter 3 discusses the objectives of setting taxi fares in Tasmania;
- Chapter 4 discusses the current fare structure and options for possible improvement;
- Chapter 5 discusses what should be included in a model for fare setting and presents proposed weights for cost indices for a representative taxi for specific areas in Tasmania;
- Chapter 6 discusses possible methods for indexing cost items in the cost indices, including the specific items of plate leases, driver labour costs and a productivity adjustment; and
- Chapter 7 discusses possible arrangements for setting fares in the future.

1.3 Summary of issues for which comment is sought

Through this paper the Regulator has noted specific items on which it seeks comment from stakeholders. A consolidated list of these items is set out below.

Section 3: Objectives

- 1. OTTER seeks stakeholder comments on the CIEs proposed objectives of taxi fare regulation in Tasmania.
- 2. Should maintaining the value of taxi plates, and in turn the value of lease payments in relation to those plates, be considered an objective in setting taxi fares?

Section 4.1: Higher flagfall

- 3. Is access to taxis within suburban areas an issue for stakeholders?
- 4. Should the flagfall charge be raised (and the distance based charge reduced in proportion) to encourage more drivers to operate within suburban areas?

Section 4.2: Booking fee

5. Do stakeholders see the need for a booking fee in Tasmania?

Section 4.3: Tariff 2

- 6. Do stakeholders believe that a Tariff 2 is required in Tasmania?
- 7. If so, is the current timeframe appropriate? Should it be shortened or lengthened?

Section 4.4: Tariff 3

8. Should a Tariff 3 be introduced into the fare structure?

- 9. If so:
 - when should it apply;
 - if it is to be specifically applied, what days of the year should it be applied to; and
 - what should the value of Tariff 3 be?

Section 4.5: De-regulation of fare components

- 10. Do stakeholders consider that a de-regulated fare structure may be appropriate for the taxi industry in Tasmania?
- 11. If so:
 - in which parts of Tasmania should it be applied;
 - should a de-regulated fare structure be restricted to taxis that are booked, as
 opposed to those that are hailed through a taxi rank; and
 - what is an appropriate average trip in terms of distance travelled and waiting time for setting the maximum revenue that can be earned from the average trip?
- 12. Is there always a clear indication for consumers and taxi operators of what is a booked and a hailed taxi? Do stakeholders see this as a material area of potential conflict?

Section 4.6: Fare notification

13. Do stakeholders believe that there are sufficient competitive forces in the Hobart and other (non Launceston) markets to consider adopting a price notification system?

Section 4.7: Application of fare increases to fare components

- 14. What are stakeholders' views on the method for increasing regulated fare components?
- 15. If an average fare approach is adopted, what is an appropriate average trip in terms of distance travelled and waiting time?

Section 5.1: What should be included in the taxi cost model?

16. Are the proposed cost items sufficiently representative of the operating costs for an average taxi in Tasmania?

Section 5.2: What should the weights be in the model?

- 17. Do stakeholders believe that the proposed weights are representative of the average taxi operating in each taxi area?
- 18. Do stakeholders have different information they wish to submit?

Section 6.1: Indexation

- 19. Do stakeholders agree with the use of independent, publicly available, estimates for inflators?
- 20. Do stakeholders agree with the CIE's suggested inflators?

Section 6.2: Plate lease costs

- 21. What are stakeholders' views on the option of assigning zero growth to the cost weight for plate leases?
- 22. What are stakeholders' views on the option of assigning negative growth to the cost weight for plate leases?
- 23. In the event that a negative growth factor is applied to the cost weight for plate leases, what are stakeholders' views on the value of the inflator/deflator to be applied?
- 24. When considering this issue should the Regulator consider the interests of taxi plate owners, consumers or a balance of both?

Section 6.3: Driver labour costs

- 25. Should labour costs be inflated by the ABS Wage Price Index for Tasmania (Public and Private)?
- 26. Do stakeholders have a view on an alternative measure?

Section 6.4: Productivity

- 27. What are stakeholders' views about applying a productivity adjustment to the outcomes of the taxi cost index?
- 28. Do stakeholders have any views concerning the mechanics of the productivity adjustment recommended by the CIE above?
- 29. Do stakeholders have evidence to suggest that productivity growth within the taxi industry is faster or slower than the economy wide average?

Section 7.1: Initiation of reviews

30. Do stakeholders agree with the CIE's recommendation that reviews should be initiated periodically by the price setting agency?

Section 7.2: Length of regulatory period

31. Do stakeholders agree with the CIE's recommendation that a major review should be conducted every four years with fares adjusted mechanically by the cost index each year?

Section 7.3: Triggers and pass throughs

32. Do stakeholders agree with the CIE's recommendations on triggers and pass throughs?

- 33. What is a material threshold for allowing for cost pass throughs during review periods, considering the cost of changing meters?
- 34. Would stakeholders like to see six monthly reviews of fuel prices?
- 35. If so, considering that the fuel weight in the proposed cost index is around 12 per cent (which means that fuel price rises contribution to overall cost increases is 12 per cent multiplied by the fuel price rise) what would be the threshold for a material change to fuel prices?

Section 7.4: Consultation during reviews

- 36. How much consultation would stakeholders like during major reviews?
- 37. Do stakeholders agree with the CIE's recommendations on consultation?
- 38. Do stakeholders believe a shortened process, such as one round of written submission and a draft and final report would be sufficient?
- 39. Do stakeholders want a public hearing?
- 40. Do stakeholders agree that consultation is not necessary for annual reviews using the mechanical formula?

Section 7.5: Agency undertaking the review

41. Who should undertake taxi fare regulation?

Section 7.6: Funding future reviews

42. Subject to the adoption of the review process recommended by the CIE, in funding future reviews, are stakeholders supportive of licence fees being increased to fund those reviews if required?

2 TAXI INDUSTRY OVERVIEW¹

This section provides a brief overview of the taxi industry in Tasmania including the structure of current fares. It is provided for information with subsequent sections addressing specific components of taxi fare regulation and requesting comment.

2.1 The taxi industry

The Tasmania taxi industry involves many players and the relationships between these players can be complex. In some cases a single organisation (or individual) can be involved in multiple parts of the supply chain, whilst in others it is separated out into distinct components. The relationship between taxi industry players is summarised in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Relationship between taxi industry players

Source: The CIE

Taxi operators are required to hold a licence plate issued by the Department of Infrastructure Energy and Resources (DIER). There are four different types of licences:

- a perpetual taxi licence, which as the names suggests, continues indefinitely;
- an owner-operator taxi licence that must be operated by the person owning the licence and hence the owner must be an accredited operator;
- a wheelchair accessible taxi (WAT) licence; and

¹ This chapter has been recreated from the CIE's draft report.

 a temporary taxi licence, which expires after a period of time, cannot be traded and can only be issued to an accredited operator.

Taxi licences also apply to specific taxi areas, of which there are 24 in Tasmania.

Licence plate holders can either operate a taxi themselves or earn a rate of return on their asset by leasing the licence plate to a separate operator, depending on the type of licence. Operators are responsible for various costs associated with operating a taxi, including purchasing or leasing the vehicle, vehicle maintenance, insurance and network fees. Operators can drive the taxi themselves or hire a driver (or both).

In Tasmania, fare revenue is generally split between the operator and the driver based on an agreed percentage (normally on a 50:50 basis). The Regulator understands that these arrangements are not regulated. Consultation suggests that the share of revenue returned to taxi drivers can be as low as 40 per cent.

The arrangements for supplying taxi services can vary considerably. In some cases, the licence plate holder, the operator and the driver may be the same person. In other cases they may be completely separate.

Passengers can obtain a cab from either:

- a taxi rank;
- by hailing one down on the street; or
- by booking over the telephone, via the internet with an authorised taxi network or through smart phone applications.

In Tasmania, based on information provided during the initial consultation phase, the Regulator understands that as much as 80 per cent of taxi services are provided through bookings.

2.2 Taxi fares in Tasmania

The 24 licence areas fit into three different fares bands:

- (a) Hobart, Launceston, Devonport, Burnie, West Tamar, Ulverstone and Perth
- (b) King Island and Flinders Island; and
- (c) other areas not listed in (a) and (b).

WATs can also charge different fares for passengers that require wheelchair accessibility, although this is currently being reviewed, separately by DIER.

Current taxi fares are set out in Table 2.1.

Fare component	Major areas ^a	Other	King/Flinders Island
	\$	\$	\$
Flagfall	3.40	3.40	4.90
Tariff 1 (per km)	1.84	1.81	2.05
Tariff 2 (per km)	2.20	2.17	2.46
Waiting time (per hour)	36.26	35.31	41.49

Table 2.1: Current taxi fares

a) Hobart, Launceston, Devonport, Burnie, West Tamar, Ulverstone and Perth Source: DIER.

The process for setting taxi fares currently takes the existing level and structure of fares and focuses on the change that should be applied to this. The change in fares has been made using either the CPI or a cost index since 2003. More detail about the current arrangements is outlined at Chapter 3 of the CIE's draft report.

3 OBJECTIVES OF TAXI FARE REGULATION

This section discusses the objectives of taxi fare regulation which is an important preliminary step in determining a methodology for setting fares. Without clear objectives, there is a greater risk of incurring unintended outcomes not desired by policy makers and stakeholders. Thus clear objectives are required to ensured a methodology is developed with the aim of achieving those objectives.

The CIE in their draft report considered the objectives of taxi fare setting regulation in Tasmania. In reviewing these objectives, the CIE concluded that in Tasmania "There is a lack of clear objectives and process in the fare setting process".

In considering possible objectives for the Tasmanian taxi industry, the CIE reviewed:

- international and Australian best practice guidelines for regulation including from the OECD, COAG, the ACCC and the UK Department for Business Innovation and Skills;
- pricing principles specific to the taxi industry with reference to NSW;
- the intent of the Taxi and Luxury Hire Car Industries Act 2008²; and
- undertook initial consultation with government stakeholders and industry in Tasmania.

the CIE suggested that the objectives of taxi fare regulation in Tasmania should be as follows:

"The objectives of taxi fare regulation should reflect the interests of consumers. This is consistent with the principles of economic regulation more generally and with the intent of the *Taxi and Luxury Hire Car Industries Act 2008*. Fare regulation should:

- aim to set fares that are economically efficient, both in terms of level and structure. Specifically, the regulated fares should seek to:
 - o reflect the efficient cost of providing the service;
 - protect consumers from the abuse of market power; and
 - ensure that there are no cross-subsidies between groups of customers.

² The intent of this Act is, in respect of taxi services, to ensure the provision of a safe, demand responsive, taxi transport system in Tasmania that adequately meets the needs of consumers.

- allow a standard of service, including availability and safety, that consumers are willing to pay for; and
- provide incentives for the industry to improve efficiency."

The Regulator seeks stakeholder comments on the CIEs suggested objectives of taxi fare regulation in Tasmania.

The above objectives focus on the consumer of taxi services.

Another common objective in economic regulation is the viability of the industry that is being regulated. In this light, Section 31 of the *Economic Regulator Act 2009* outlines matters to be considered by the Regulator when undertaking investigations of monopoly providers. Section 31 of the Act notes, "In a monopoly provider investigation, the Regulator is to consider the following matters":

- 31(d) if appropriate, the need for a reasonable return (including the payment of dividends) on the assets of a monopoly provider; and
- 31(g) the need for the monopoly provider to be financially viable.

These matters are to be considered in conjunction with other matters related to protecting consumers from the adverse effects of the exercising of monopoly power. The intention of the above clauses is generally to ensure prices are not set too low that may compromise the ability of the industry to continue to provide reasonable services.

Through the initial consultation with stakeholders, industry viability was a matter raised by stakeholders.

The CIE considered that industry viability was important "only insofar as it ensures that customers receive a service that meets their needs".³

This view is generally consistent with broader regulatory precedent (and the matters noted above in the *Economic Regulator Act 2009*). This is because if prices are regulated to recover efficient costs then:

- industry will cover all of its costs;
- industry will obtain a return commensurate with a competitive market outcome; and
- industry will be financially viable.

The difficulty with the taxi industry is that by setting a price that recovers the efficient cost of providing services this may put at risk the financial viability of some players in the industry.

³ See The CIE (2012) "Setting taxi fares in Tasmania" Draft Report, p.19.

This is because taxi fare revenue is currently used to recover more than the efficient cost of operating a taxi. Taxi fare revenue currently is used to pay rental payments to lease plate owners. However this plate lease cost is not an efficient economic cost. Rather, the plate lease cost represents the financial value of plate leases that arises due to restrictions on the supply of lease plates, known as an "economic rent". If the market for lease plates was competitive and there were no restrictions on supply, new entrants would enter the market thereby reducing the value of lease plates, lease costs to operators and ultimately fares. In other industries, regulators keep a check on potential economic rents by only allowing for efficient economic costs to be included when determining prices.

The difficulty in the taxi industry is that this economic rent has largely been created by governments by restricting the supply of lease plates. This has created a market for individuals to purchase and own lease plates as an investment but not operate taxis themselves. As with any investment, investors expect a rate of return on that investment (and funds to assist in paying off loans that may have funded that investment), which is provided through the lease payments paid by operators. This cost though is funded by consumers through higher fares.

The Regulator recognises that this is a difficult issue and one which has received considerable attention in NSW and Victoria over the past year⁴. Possible ways of addressing this issue are discussed in Section 6.2 however a decision on how to address it will be impacted by the objective taken with respect to lease plates.

Should maintaining the value of taxi plates, and in turn the value of lease payments in relation to those plates, be included as an objective in setting taxi fares?

⁴ See IPART (2012) "Review of Taxi Fares in NSW, Maximum Fares from July 2012 Final Report", IPART (2012) "Annual Taxi Licence Release for Sydney 2013/14 Draft Report" and Taxi Service Commission (Victoria) (2012) "Customer First: Safety, Service, Choice – Taxi Industry Inquiry Final Report", December 2012,

4 FARE STRUCTURE

This section discusses options for structuring taxi fares including how cost increases may be applied to the components of fare increases.

The current fare structure splits charges between the following items:

- Flagfall which is the amount on the meter when the taxi is hired;
- Distance rate a kilometre based charge for the distance travelled in a taxi. There are two kilometre based charges for different times of the day (one between 6am and 8pm and, a second higher charge, between 8pm and 6am); and
- Waiting time which is added to the fare instead of the distance rate when the taxi is stopped, or travelling at less than a particular speed.

While there are slightly higher charges between the different taxi zones of Tasmania and for WATs, the charging structure remains the same.

Initial consultation with the taxi industry suggested that the majority of the industry may be satisfied with the existing structure of fares.

However, the CIE noted some alternative options to consider in structuring fares. These are discussed in more detail below.

4.1 Higher flagfall

From the initial consultation with industry the Regulator understands that it may be difficult to access a taxi in certain suburban areas. Drivers may be discouraged from pick-ups in suburban areas for a number of reasons including that the value of fares in such areas is too low. This is because many passengers may only want a short trip within a suburban area which would attract a low distance based charged. As such, drivers received a small return for their work within suburban areas and may wish to remain in busy city areas or at the airport where than can attract a higher fare.

A possible solution to this problem is to increase the flagfall relative to the distance based charge to provide for a greater return on short trips. In theory this may provide for greater access of taxis in suburban areas that attract smaller trips.

However, the Regulator also understands that many taxi users in suburban areas are pensioners and low income earners. Given this, many of these users may not be able to afford the higher fares that would result from this fare structure. Furthermore, the Regulator appreciates that some low income customers such as pensioners may prefer the certainty of lower fixed fees. Thus whilst a higher flag fall may provide for greater supply of taxis in suburban areas, demand for taxis may fall. Setting the appropriate flagfall level would therefore appear to be about balancing accessibility of taxis with affordability for lower income earners.

Is access to taxis within suburban areas an issue for stakeholders?

Should the flagfall charge be raised (and the distance based charge reduced in proportion) to encourage more drivers to operate within suburban areas?

4.2 Booking fee

In many other jurisdictions customer's who pre-book a taxi are charged a booking fee. The rationale for the booking fee is to compensate the driver for the costs involved in getting to the passenger. A booking fee may also assist some customers that may find it difficult to obtain a taxi perhaps due to their location or those customers seeking a short trip only.

However, there are complications in setting the booking fee because the costs involved in travelling to pick up passengers will vary depending on their location. Furthermore, the Regulator understands that up to 80 per cent of fares are currently booked in Tasmania. The CIE notes that since most passenger trips are booked through the network, the distinction between implementing a booking fee and raising the flag fall is diminished.⁵ Indeed, if a booking fee was introduced, it would need to be off-set by reductions in other fare components such that it did not increase the overall fare level.

Do stakeholders see the need for a booking fee in Tasmania?

4.3 Tariff 2

In Tasmania a higher distance based charge (Tariff 2) is charged between 8 pm and 6 am on weekdays and all day on weekends and public holidays. This charge is approximately 20 per cent higher than Tariff 1. DIER notes that "This increase in fares leads to a corresponding increase in driver revenue, which may serve to offset the negative aspects of working at less attractive times"⁶.

In NSW, a night time surcharge is charged rather than a broader Tariff 2 as applies in Tasmania. The Independent Pricing and Regulator Tribunal (IPART – the body responsible for regulated taxi fares in NSW) noted that that rationale for the night time surcharge is:

to compensate drivers for periods of lower demand;

⁵ See The CIE (2012) "Setting taxi fares in Tasmania" Draft Report, p.45.

⁶ DIER (2005) "Review of the Taxi and Luxury Hire Car Industries Act 1995, *Paper 2 – Taxi Fare Setting and Driver Pay and Conditions*" December, p.41.

- to raise taxi earnings in night periods to compensate drivers for unsocial hours; and
- to help ensure a reasonable level of taxi supply in night periods.⁷

However, this surcharge has been restricted to the night time. This is because in NSW IPART considers that there is no evidence of a shortage of supply of taxis during the day on weekends in urban areas. IPART also considers that there is also insufficient evidence to suggest that a fare premium is required to compensate drivers for additional safety risks involved in working during the day on weekends and public holidays as is the case with late night driving.⁸

The CIE, in its draft report, indicates that evidence from other States suggests that the relationship between the level of fares and drivers compensation is weak.⁹ The CIE notes that the impact of higher fares on driver earnings could potentially be eroded by a range of factors including:

- less demand due to the higher fares;
- more taxis on the road competing to receive the higher fares; and
- higher payments to operators, with some drivers willing to receive less than the current 50 per cent share of fare revenue.

The CIE notes that raising Tariff 2 may not actually increase driver earnings to any significant extent, raising the question of whether it is actually needed, particularly during the non-peak times when Tariff 2 is active. The CIE also notes that the period during which higher tariffs apply is somewhat arbitrary and appears to vary significantly across States. There may be a case for higher tariffs in peak periods, such as Friday and Saturday nights.¹⁰

Do stakeholders believe that a Tariff 2 is required in Tasmania?

If so, is the current timeframe appropriate? Should it be shortened or lengthened?

4.4 Tariff 3

During the initial consultation, stakeholders suggested a new Tariff 3 should be considered for particular times when it is difficult to source drivers. This Tariff 3 could apply broadly to late night weekend shifts and public holidays or for specific times of the year when there is sufficient evidence that attracting drivers is difficult.

⁷ IPART (2012) "Issues Paper: Review of Taxi Fares in NSW, Maximum Fares from July 2012", p.32.

⁸ IPART (2012) "Review of Taxi Fares in NSW, Maximum Fares from July 2012 Final Report", p.53.

⁹ See The CIE (2012) "Setting taxi fares in Tasmania" Draft Report, p.46.

¹⁰ Ibid pp.47.

If Tariff 3 is applied broadly it may have the same impact on driver income as discussed above in section 4.3. This may suggest that the objectives of introducing a broad based Tariff 3 would be better addressed through adjustments to Tariff 2 perhaps by shortening the length of time Tariff 2 applies for and possibly increasing its level. In this manner, drivers would be compensated for shifts that may involve unsociable hours or be more likely to attract unsavoury or violent passengers.

A specific Tariff 3 may have the advantage of specifically targeting those particular days of the year in which driver supply is particularly weak. From the initial consultation the Regulator understands that these days include Christmas Eve, New Years Eve and AFL grand final day. The Regulator understands that in Western Australia a surcharge is applied between 12 am and midnight on Christmas Day and between 6 pm and 6 am New Years Eve/Day.¹¹

Alternatively, given that there may be only few instances of this, the Regulator considers that perhaps it should be left to industry to determine how best to serve consumers on these days. This may mean if operators would like to attract more drivers then they may need to provide a greater share of fare revenue during these particular shifts.

Should a Tariff 3 be introduced into the fare structure?

If so:

- when should it apply;
- what days of the year should it be applied to; and
- what should the value of Tariff 3 be?

4.5 De-regulation of fare components

In their draft report, the CIE raised an option of setting the maximum fare for an average trip and allowing industry to determine their own fare structure. Under this approach the regulator could determine the maximum amount of revenue that could be earned from an 'average trip'. Following this, each network owner/operator would submit to the Regulator their proposed fare structure that would recover the same revenue on this average trip. This would involve a decision, at minimum, on the relative size of the flag fall and the distance based charge.

For example, the CIE noted that the current average fare may be \$19.33 based on an average trip specified as eight kilometres with two minutes of waiting time. If average costs rose by three per cent, this would increase to \$19.90. In a de-regulated fare structure environment, network operators would be able to set their flag fall anywhere between \$0 and \$19.90 and their corresponding distance charge anywhere between \$2.50 per kilometre and \$0 so long as the value of the

¹¹ See http://www.transport.wa.gov.au/taxis/15154.asp

average trip was still \$19.90. Using these extremes, a one kilometre fare could range between \$2.50 and \$19.90 and a 25 kilometre trip could range from \$19.90 to \$62.20 depending on the fare structure chosen by the network operator. The CIE in its draft report acknowledge that "while large fare differentials would be possible in a de-regulated environment, it is also unlikely. It is more likely that all networks would choose a fare structure somewhere between these extremes". ¹²

The logic behind this approach is that operators are closer to the industry and thus may be better placed to determine the optimal fare structure. The CIE notes that this is conceptually similar to the weighted average price cap approach that has been widely applied to regulator decisions in other industries.¹³ A weighted average price cap form of regulation is noted as being welfare improving for consumers and producers in a natural monopoly setting and the Australian Energy Regulator adopts this approach for monopoly electricity distribution companies. The Australian Energy Regulator notes that the weighted average price approach provides the highest incentive for efficient prices of the alternative forms of regulation that it has considered.¹⁴ This would suggest that perhaps a weighted average price cap may be appropriate for some monopoly providers of taxi services in Tasmania.

However, in NSW, IPART determines a weighted average price cap for its regulation of electricity retailers which is not in a natural monopoly setting. Each year regulated electricity retailers submit a tariff structure that matches this weighted average price cap based on their expectation of the numbers of customers served and the volume of demand. Furthermore, each year IPART allows for a weighted average price increase and regulated retailers are free to adjust their regulated tariffs as long as the new weighted average price cap is met. This can potentially lead to large fluctuations in individual tariffs. However, IPART note that they believe there is sufficient competition in the metro NSW market to ensure these fluctuations are minimal and subject to competitive pressures¹⁵. Indeed this process appears to have been effective since it was introduced in 2007.

Based on this logic, this would suggest that a de-regulated fare structure may be suitable for consideration in Hobart where there are four network operators currently. Consumers would have the ability to decide to book a taxi with a different operator if they did not like the fare structure on offer from a particular operator. Hence this competitive pressure would ensure that all network operators set what they perceive to be an optimal fare structure to compete with each other for the available demand.

¹² The CIE (2012) "Setting taxi fares in Tasmania" Draft Report, p.83.

¹³ Ibid p.42.

¹⁴ See Australian Energy Regulator (2012) "Matters relevant to the framework and approach, ACT and NSW DNSPs 2014-19: control mechanisms for standard control electricity distribution services in NSW and the ACT" April, p.9.

¹⁵ See IPART (2012) "Review of regulated retail prices and charges for electricity 2013 to 2016 – Issues Paper". pp.36-37.

However, as discussed above, the theory of weighted average price cap regulation has focused primarily within the natural monopoly setting. The CIE note that in a competitive taxi industry there may be complex interactions between pricing policies chosen by different networks that may influence the effectiveness of a weighted average price cap. For example, if some taxis were able to effectively target particular segments of the market (e.g. longer trips) and set their fares accordingly, they may be able to benefit from a fare structure that disadvantages some customers. This will depend on their ability to segment the market to their advantage.¹⁶ However, the CIE note that in practice it is difficult for drivers and operators to choose which trips to service, particularly in a market where a significant share of trips are pre-booked.¹⁷

For this approach to work consumers would need to be educated about the different fare structures on offer by taxi networks. At present, all fare structures are the same within each licence area and consumers have the freedom to book or hail any taxi in the knowledge that the price paid will be the same for each taxi. However, in other industries consumers are required to educate themselves about the price charged by different firms before making their purchase. This would suggest if a de-regulated fare structure was adopted in Tasmania (or parts of) a cultural shift may be required for the industry and customer education required.

One complication with this approach is that for taxis hailed at a taxi rank, consumers tend to use the first available taxi ie the taxi at the front of the taxi zone. However, Regulation 57(5) of the *Taxi Industry Regulations 2008* states, amongst other things, that a driver must not:

"(a) refuse to accept a hiring while the driver's taxi is in a taxi zone within the taxi area specified on the taxi licence under which the taxi is providing a taxi service; or

(f) inform a person that the person is required to hire the taxi standing in the foremost space within the taxi zone."

That is, on a strict interpretation of the Taxi Industry Regulations, if a customer approached, for example, the third taxi in the rank, the driver of that taxi would be obligated to hire their taxi to that customer.

There may also be physical barriers at some ranks to moving specific taxis forward in line, such as at the airport. Furthermore, if consumers were to choose a taxi that is not first in line at a rank, this could cause tension amongst drivers and consumers at those ranks. To solve this problem, taxis hailed through a rank may need to charge based on the current fare structure relativities. Initial consultation with industry suggests that around 20 per cent of trips are hailed and thus would be subject to the current fare relativities with the 80 per cent booked based on the

¹⁶ For example, if a network was able to capture a segment of the market and base their fares on the average trip for all of Hobart, their fare structure may result in higher revenue and costs to passengers then if it was based on a significantly different average trip from their new segmented market.

¹⁷ See The CIE (2012) "Setting taxi fares in Tasmania" Draft Report, p.43.

network operator's desired fare structure. However, confusion may occur between the definition of what is a booked fare and what is a hailed fare.

Do stakeholders consider that a de-regulated fare structure would be appropriate for the taxi industry in Tasmania?

If so:

- in which parts of Tasmania should it be applied;
- should a de-regulated fare structure be restricted to taxis that are booked, as opposed to those that are hailed through a taxi rank; and
- what is an appropriate average trip in terms of distance travelled and waiting time for setting the maximum revenue that can be earned from the average trip?

Is there always a clear indication for consumers and taxi operators of what is a booked and a hailed taxi? Do stakeholders see this as an area of potential conflict?

The recent Victorian Taxi Industry Inquiry (the Victorian Inquiry) proposed two alternative methods for setting fares.

The first involves the setting of maximum fares. Under this approach, a normal regulatory fare review occurs to determine fare increases. However, the difference is that taxi operators would have the flexibility to offer discounts to customers under this maximum fare amount. Under this approach, maximum fares would be recorded on the taximeter and drivers be allowed to provide discounts off the meter rate, as long as the meter is run as a protection for consumers. The advantage of this approach is that it allows participants in the market to adopt some competition with one another to the benefit of consumers. However, the disadvantage is that there is less certainty on the final fare. The Victorian Inquiry noted that "A large number of those opposing the change to maximum fares suggested that it would lead to unruly behaviour – especially at taxi ranks – and cause conflict between passengers and drivers about discounted fares. Others believed it would lead to disputes between operators and drivers in reconciling the meter with the fare box at the end of each shift."¹⁸

The Regulator notes that a maximum fare system effectively already exists in Tasmania. As indicated in the terms of reference for this inquiry (see Appendix A), fares are regulated by a "standard fare" that cannot be exceeded. However, the

¹⁸ Taxi Service Commission (Victoria) (2012) "Customer First: Safety, Service, Choice – Taxi Industry Inquiry Final Report", December 2012, pp.179-180.

actual charge for hiring can be less than the standard fare (as shown on the taximeter) at the driver's discretion.

The second method proposed by the Victorian Inquiry involves allowing taxi operators to set their own fares, however any fare change would need to be published with a public agency (a price notification system). The Victorian Inquiry notes that "the adoption of this system will put greater control in the hands of country operators and networks, allowing a tailoring of services and prices to the costs of running their business. Removal of such restrictions will also encourage greater flexibility, innovation and choice in taxi services".¹⁹

The Victorian Inquiry argues there is "a strong theoretical and practical basis for promoting more effective competition in the pre-booked commercial vehicle market. This market has very different characteristics from the rank and hail markets, with consumers having greater ability to choose between competing companies and hire car companies having a much greater reliance on repeat business. Competition can keep service standards higher in this market than in situations where the probability of repeat business is low (for example, the likelihood of catching the same taxi)".²⁰

The Victorian Inquiry notes that a significant amount of regional Victoria taxi trips are based on pre-bookings. Thus the Victorian Inquiry recommended moving to a price notification system for regional Victoria, "following the implementation of price-based licensing policy in these areas"²¹. This final step is designed to ensure sufficient competition emerges to compete with other operators in regional markets.

The Victorian Inquiry notes that the majority of taxi passenger trips in Melbourne are instigated through the rank and hail market where customers are unable to exercise choice. Given this, the Victorian Inquiry considers the regulation of maximum fares is appropriate for Melbourne at this stage.

Drawing paralells with the Tasmanian market, the Regulator understands that:

- around 80 per cent of passenger trips in Tasmania are pre-booked;
- there are four competing networks operating in Hobart, with only single networks or a co-op arrangement in other towns;
- lease plates in Hobart and Launceston are significantly more valuable than in other areas suggesting licence supply restrictions may be inhibiting competition.

Given these factors above it would appear that:

 a price notification system may be appropriate for Hobart with a large pre-booked market and competition. However, given the current value of taxi plates it is unclear whether there is sufficient competition in the Hobart market;

¹⁹ Ibid, p.13.

²⁰ Ibid, p.91.

²¹ Ibid.p.54.

- a maximum fare system (the current approach) may be appropriate in Launceston due to insufficient competition in the Launceston market reflected by the single network and high taxi plate value; and
- a price notification system may be appropriate for other areas of Tasmania given a large pre-booked market and little value in taxi plates. Whilst competition does not appear to be necessarity evident within the taxi industry in other areas of Tasmania, the fact that lease plates have neglible value (with some exception in those areas) suggest no economic rent is being earnt. If taxi operators did increase fares this may either lead to less demand with passengers seeking alternative transport methods or new players entering the market to erode any extra profits. That is, the current restriction on the number of licences being released may not be impacting on the achievement of competitive outcomes in other areas of Tasmania.

Do stakeholders believe that there are sufficient competitive forces in the Hobart and other (non Launceston) markets to consider adopting a price notification system?

4.6 Application of fares increases to fare components

If fare components are to remain regulated, the CIE outlines two options for applying fare increases to fare components.

The first is option is called the "average fare approach". This involves:

- specifying an average trip including distance travelled and waiting time;
- applying the fare increase to the current value of the average; and
- adjusting the fare components to ensure that the new value of the average trip is met through the new fare components.

This approach allows for flexibility in adjusting the fare component at each review if anecdotal evidence suggests that the current fare structure is sub-optimal.

The current approach is similar in nature to the above approach. However under the current approach each fare increase (percentage change) is applied equally to each fare component, which is similar to the current approach for most regulators in Australia. The advantage of the current approach is that information is not required on the average trip. However, the disadvantage is that fare components are not able to be adjusted with confidence if the components are deemed to be unsuitable.

The second approach is called the "master fare schedule" approach. Under this approach fare components are adjusted by the proposed fare increase and then rounded. Subsequent fare increases are applied to the unrounded amount. The CIE notes that this approach is useful when dealing with small components in which fare increases must be rounded to 5 or 10 cent increments. For example, the CIE notes that if a booking fee was introduced of say one dollar, then a more than five per cent price increase would be required to achieve a 10 cent increment, which may never occur. However, since under a master fare schedule, fare increases are applied to

previous unrounded amounts, over time this would occur. However, the CIE notes that the master fare schedule does not allow for a rebalancing of fares or the introduction of a new fare component.

The CIE recommends that the average fare approach be adopted if fare components remain regulated.

What are stakeholders' views on the method for increasing regulated fare components?

If an average fare approach is adopted, what is an appropriate average trip in terms of distance travelled and waiting time?

5 COST WEIGHTS

This section discusses elements to include in taxi cost models to determine fare increases.

5.1 What should be included in the taxi cost model?

Selection of the items to be included in a cost model is critical if cost pressures faced by industry are to be accurately reflected. This is to ensure that:

- industry is able to recover its costs of doing business; and
- consumers are protected so that fare increases reflect only efficient cost increases.

Table 5.1 presents the cost items and weights contained within the current DIER taxi cost model.

Component	Weight 2011 Per cent
Vehicle lease cost	7.58
Vehicle equipment	4.19
Vehicle registration	2.10
Annual licence and inspection fee	1.68
Radio fees	10.97
Vehicle insurance	5.40
Workers compensation insurance	6.08
Personal Accident Insurance	1.82
Accreditation costs	0.53
Fuel	33.72
Vehicle maintenance labour and parts	24.02
Tyres – new	1.90

Table 5.1: DIER current cost weights

The DIER model excludes two cost items being:

- labour of operators and drivers; and
- taxi plate lease costs.

The Regulator understands that these items may have been historically excluded due to their circular relationship with fare increases. That is, a fare increase leads to:

 a similar increase in driver labour costs based on a 50:50 fare revenue sharing arrangement, without consideration of the value of driver labour; and an increase in the values of lease plates from the provision of a greater return to lease plate owners through higher revenue. As lease plates increase in value, the value of lease costs to operators also rises which can lead to an increase in fares and further increases in the value of lease plates, hence a circularity.²²

However, the CIE notes that exclusion of these major cost items means that other cost items have a much higher weight in the cost index than they otherwise would. For example, the weighting for fuel was around 34 per cent in 2011, compared to around 10 per cent observed in other jurisdictions.²³ This means that fuel price rises have a much larger impact on overall fare increases than would otherwise be the case if these items were accounted for in the model.

Whilst inclusion of labour and lease plate costs has the potential to create the circularity discussed above, this can be addressed separately through consideration of the method of indexing these items (see Sections 6.2 and 6.3 below).

The CIE recommends that all major cost items should be included in the model; however they do not necessarily need to be included separately. Items should be separated out when they move differently to general prices in the economy.

Given these considerations, the CIE suggests that all major costs should be included under the following categories:

- radio-room costs;
- vehicle costs (including fit-out);
- service, maintenance and repair;
- insurance;
- registration;
- operator labour;
- plate leases;
- driver labour; and
- fuel.

Are the proposed cost items sufficiently representative of the operating costs for an average taxi in Tasmania?

²² This issue was discussed in detail during the recent Taxi Fare Review in NSW, see IPART (2012) "2012 Review of Taxi Fares in NSW – Final Report",pp.29-31.

²³ The CIE (2012) "Setting taxi fares in Tasmania: Draft Report", pp.23-24.

5.2 What should the weights be in the model?

Table 5.2 and Table 5.3 present the CIE's estimates of cost and cost weights for Hobart, Launceston and "Other" regions of Tasmania. These estimates are based on information provided to the CIE by DIER; industry through initial consultation; and through the CIE's own research. Not surprisingly, the inclusion of plate lease costs and operator and driver labour leads to a reduction in weights of other items, particularly for fuel and service and maintenance costs.

It is important to note that the following estimates aim to be representative of the costs of operating an average taxi in specific locations within Tasmania. They will not necessarily be the same as the actual cost of operating an individual taxi. Rather they aim to represent the average cost of operating a taxi. This takes into account the differences in specific taxis including different fuel arrangements (petrol, LPG and Hybrid's) and operator models ranging from the segmented market of lease plate owner-network-operator-driver to the complete owner-operator model with combinations in between.

Furthermore, whilst the total cost of operating a taxi in a specific area may vary, the cost weight of each cost component is what really matters for this method of setting fares. Table 5.3 therefore provides a representation of the percentage share of costs for a representative (i.e. average) taxi in each taxi region. As will be seen in the next section, cost increases are applied to the cost weights to determine the change in fares.

Cost	Cost shares		
	Hobart	Launceston	Other
	\$/taxi	\$/taxi	\$/taxi
Radio room costs	7 200	8 387	11 880
Vehicle costs (including fit out)	4 806	4 718	4 372
Servicing, maintenance and repairs	7 657	7 034	5 200
Insurance	4 786	4 396	3 250
Registration	1 318	1 318	1 318
Operator labour	4 991	4 585	3 389
Plate leases	13 328	6 292	3 432
Driver labour ^a	60 356	51 677	32 441 ^b
Fuel	16 271	14 947	11 050
Total	120 713	103 353	76 333

Table 5.2: Estimates of major annual cost it	ems by area (including G	ST)
--	--------------------------	-----

^a Driver labour is the annual income earned by all drivers operating an averagetaxi in a specific taxi area. ^b Driver share is 50 per cent in Hobart and Launceston, 45 per cent in Burnie and 40 per cent in Devonport and

Ulverstone

Source: Appendix A of the CIE's draft report (details of the assumptions used to calculate these estimates are also outlined in Appendix A of the CIE's draft report)

Cost		Cost shares	
	Hobart	Launceston	Other
	Per cent	Per cent	Per cent
Radio room costs	6.0	8.1	15.6
Vehicle costs (including fit out)	4.0	4.6	5.7
Servicing, maintenance and repairs	6.3	6.8	6.8
Insurance	4.0	4.3	4.3
Registration	1.1	1.3	1.7
Operator labour	4.1	4.4	4.4
Plate leases	11.0	6.1	4.5
Driver labour	50.0	50.0	42.5 ^a
Fuel	13.5	14.5	14.5
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 5.3: CIE proposed cost weights by area

Source: The CIE.

Do stakeholders believe that the proposed weights are representative of the average taxi operating in each taxi area?

Do stakeholders have different information they wish to submit?

6 INDEXATION, LEASE PLATES AND PRODUCTIVITY ADJUSTMENTS

This section discusses specific inflators to use in determining changes to the cost weights discussed in Section 5 of this paper that will, ultimately, determine the change in overall fares.

6.1 Indexation

Once the cost weights have been determined, these weighs are multiplied by cost inflators/deflators to determine the weighted average cost increase for an average taxi.

The CIE notes that there are two broad methods for determining inflators:

- independent publicly available estimates including ABS Consumer Price Index measures, official interest rate data and data collated on fuel prices; and
- quotes from industry (for example, obtaining a quote from networks on their network fees each year).

The disadvantage of public estimates is that they may not align well to the cost item being measured.

However, the disadvantages of quotes from industry are more numerous including not necessarily representing prices paid (full price versus discounts) and may be subject to gaming by industry.

The CIE recommends, on balance, the use of independent publicly available estimates. The Regulator understands that most cost index based approaches used by Regulators are moving from industry quotes to independent public estimates, thus the use of this approach would be consistent with current regulatory trends.

Table 6.1 outlines the inflators proposed by the CIE for each cost item it suggests should be in the index. These inflators have been chosen as most closely representative of each cost weight. Further details can be found in Chapter 9 of the CIE's draft report.

 Table 6.1: The CIE's proposed inflators

Cost item	Inflator	
Radio room costs	ABS CPI, Communications for Hobart	
Vehicle costs (including fit out)	ABS CPI Motor Vehicles Hobart and RBA small business indicator rate for variable loans	
Servicing, maintenance and repairs	ABS Consumer Price Index for maintenance and repair, Hobart	
Insurance	ABS CPI, Insurance for Hobart	
Registration	Government regulated fees ²⁴	
Operator labour	ABS Wage Price Index for Tasmania (Public and Private)	
Plate leases	0 per cent or negative growth, see Section 6.2	
Driver labour	ABS Wage Price Index for Tasmania (Public and Private)	
Fuel	Average annual percentage change in fuel costs for Hobart from Fueltrac	

Do stakeholders agree with the use of independent publicly available estimates for inflators?

Do stakeholders agree with the CIE's suggested inflators?

6.2 Plate lease costs

Taxi plate lease costs are a real cost faced by operators, and a significant one for operators of standard taxis. Plate lease costs constitute 11 per cent of the costs of providing taxi services in Hobart.

However, their inclusion in the taxi cost model is problematic as outlined in Section 6.1. The value of a taxi plate licence reflects, at least in part, the expected earnings from fares. As fares go up, so does the value of a taxi plate licence and the associated lease. If the change in plate lease cost is used to set the fares, there is a degree of circularity that may serve to accelerate fare increases.²⁵

²⁴ The change in cost for this item will be observed based on the regulated fees set by DIER and the MAIB. See <u>http://www.transport.tas.gov.au/fees/calculation of fees - class a vehicles</u> and <u>http://www.maib.com.au/premiums</u>.

²⁵ At first glance one may consider that current prices do not recover plate lease costs as they are not included in the current taxi cost index of DIER. However, whilst perhaps not directly included in the model that determines fare increases, the fact that plates leases have a positive value in Hobart, Launceston and Burnie, is evidence that excessive profits are being earned that flow through to plate owners. Chart 9.4 of The CIE draft report shows the cost of licence plate sales in recent years on the secondary market.

Furthermore, the plate lease cost is not an efficient economic cost. Rather, the plate lease cost represents the financial value of plate leases that arises due to restrictions on the supply of lease plates, known as an "economic rent". If the market for lease plates was competitive and there were no restrictions on supply, then new entrants would enter the market thereby eroding the value of the taxi plate and, in turn, the plate lease cost. In other industries, regulators keep a check on potential economic rents by only allowing for the inclusion of efficient economic costs when determining prices.

The difficulty in the taxi industry is that this economic rent has largely been created by the long established policies of government to restrict the supply of taxi plate licences. This has created a market for individuals to purchase and own taxi plates as an investment but not operate taxis themselves. As with any investment, investors expect a rate of return on that investment (including funds to repay loans used to fund that investment), which is provided through the lease plate financial cost charged to operators. This cost however is funded by consumers through higher fares.

There are two possible ways to deal with this problem through the fare setting methodology.

The first is to assign zero growth to the cost weight for plate leases. This has the effect of removing any circularity between the value of plate leases and fare increases and, all other things being equal, maintaining the current value of lease plates. This is because fare increases will be based on increases in physical costs excluding the plate lease costs. Hence any fare increase would be used to pay for this increase in cost with no additional funds available for taxi plate owners. Given this, both the return to taxi plate owners and the value of taxi plates would remain unchanged, all other things being equal. Furthermore, consumers would only pay for increases in other costs and would pay no more than what they are currently paying for plate lease costs. This approach was recently used by the NSW regulator IPART²⁶ and is used by the Western Australian government²⁷.

The second is to assign negative growth to the cost weight for plate leases. This would ensure that the contribution of plate lease costs to fares would fall over time with fares moving toward efficient economic cost. Furthermore, it would reduce the residual amount of funds (above other costs) available to be passed to taxi plate owners and, in turn, the value of taxi plates.

The solution to this problem would appear to depend on how much weight is placed on the respective interests of taxi plate owners and consumers. This was the subject of the discussion in Section 3.

²⁶ IPART (2012) "Review of taxi fares in NSW, Final report".

²⁷ See PricewaterhouseCoopers (2011) "Update of the 2011 taxi fare increase, prepared for the Western Australian Department of Transport".

Another way of dealing with this issue is to vary the rate at which new licences are released and taken up. An increase in the number of licences released and taken up will increase the supply of taxis on the road for consumers. This will reduce the number of fares available per taxi and thus the revenue and return for lease plate owners per taxi. Indeed this is the primary method currently proposed in Victoria and NSW which is outlined in more detail in Appendix B.

The Regulator notes that DIER is currently undertaking a review of licence releases in conjunction with the taxi fare review. Whilst the Regulator has been instructed to conduct the taxi fare inquiry in isolation to the licence review, the Regulator notes that the outcomes of DIER's licence review will impact on the value of taxi plates in the future. That is, if more licence plates are released, relative to the increase in demand for taxi services, then the value of taxi plates will fall. This fall in value would be reflected in the value of the cost weight for plate leases when the weights are next reviewed. Appendix B outlines how IPART and the Victorian Taxi Industry Inquiry are considering the dynamics between future licence releases and the treatment of lease plates in fare modelling.

Given the dynamics between licence releases and fares, the CIE's draft report recommends a deflator be applied to plate lease costs that reflect the number of licences being released. That is, a higher deflator is applied if fewer licences are released and taken up or a lower deflator is adopted if more licences are being released and taken up. The CIE recommends that the deflator should be five per cent per year if licence releases remain at the same rate.

Ultimately, this is a matter of government policy; however the Regulator wishes to consult with stakeholders to inform the debate.

What are stakeholders' views on the option of assigning zero growth to the cost weight for plate leases?

What are stakeholders' views on the option of assigning negative growth to the cost weight for plate leases?

In the event that a negative growth factor is applied to the cost weight for plate leases, what are stakeholders' views on the value of the inflator/deflator to be applied?

When considering this issue should the Regulator consider the interests of taxi plate owners, consumers or a balance of both?

6.3 Driver labour costs

As shown in Section 5.2, driver labour costs are included in the model to reflect the current revenue sharing arrangement between drivers and operators. That is, the cost weight for drivers is 50 per cent in Hobart and Launceston, reflecting the fact that drivers currently take home 50 per cent of the fare revenue for those taxi areas. This revenue split is an arrangement within the industry and is not subject to regulation.

The CIE note that "the current cost index presumes that the cost sharing arrangements will continue and that only measures operator costs. This effectively says that if there is a 10 per cent increase in operator costs, a 10 per cent increase in fares is required to cover operator costs, with drivers also benefitting".²⁸

The CIE also notes that "We consider that it is not the role of the regulator to use fares to influence the share of revenues that goes to drivers, operators and other relevant services providers".²⁹

Based on this logic, an independent measure is required to inflate labour costs in the model. The CIE has recommended that driver and operator labour costs be inflated by the increase in the ABS Wage Price Index for Tasmania (Public and Private). This has the effect of allowing for wages growth in the model to be similar to the Tasmanian average.

In addition, it removes the mechanical circularity between the total level of the Cost Index and weight to be applied to driver labour costs. As discussed above, under the current model any increase in operator costs also leads to a commensurate increase in fares and effectively driver costs, through the revenue sharing arrangement. If this were maintained in the new model through maintaining the 50 per cent weight, then further increases in operator costs would lead to increases in driver costs and providing a continued double impact on fares. The only difference is that the impact would be more explicitly visible.

With more regular reviews and the inclusion of lease plate costs, in future any negative impacts from fuel price and plate lease cost falls will lead to a double negative impact on fares, through the link to drivers costs. This is because, to maintain the 50 per cent weight, a deflator (or reduced level of inflator) would need to be applied to the driver labour cost weight. Similar to above this impact would occur independent of general wages of workers. Using the independent measure of WPI removes this circularity.

The regulatory decision will also be independent of any driver operator revenue sharing arranging. These arrangements can continue to be negotiated within the industry. From the initial consultation it is understood that some operators are beginning to pass some of the costs onto drivers such as costs for workers compensation and cleaning. In addition, the driver revenue sharing arrangement is less in Burnie, Ulverstone and Devonport. Should these arrangements between regulatory periods change, the driver labour cost weights can be adjusted at the next cost weight review.

Should labour costs be inflated by the ABS Wage Price Index for Tasmania (Public and Private)?

Do stakeholders have a view on an alternative measure?

²⁸ The CIE (2012) "Setting taxi fares in Tasmania: Draft Report", p.69.

²⁹ Ibid p.69.

6.4 Productivity

The CIE also recommends including a productivity adjustment to incentivise the taxi industry to be more efficient over time.

The CIE notes that the Cost Index approach is designed to measure a change in the cost of providing taxi services, based on changes in the price of inputs (including labour, capital and intermediate inputs). A Cost Index therefore assumes a fixed quantity of inputs, thus if the taxi industry improves productivity performance the Cost Index will overstate actual cost increases faced by the industry. Hence, applying a productivity adjustment to the cost increase measured by the Cost Index helps to simulate the outcomes that would be expected in an unregulated market with open entry.³⁰

The CIE notes that a productivity adjustment:

- provides a signal to market participants to improve performance; and
- ensure that some of the benefits of productivity gains are passed onto consumers.

Furthermore, the CIE notes that productivity improvements within the taxi industry should occur through:

- more efficient use of labour and capital this could be through more passengers per shift through better technology to link drivers to passengers or more demand, relative to the supply of taxis; or
- more efficient use of intermediate inputs this could include use of more efficient use of fuel, either through less running without a passenger or use of more fuel efficient vehicles.³¹

A productivity adjustment is currently applied when calculating the taxi fare increases in NSW and Victoria.

In terms of the practicalities of applying a productivity adjustment, the CIE, in their draft report, consider the measure of productivity adjustment to use, the length of time for calculating this measure and what to apply it to specifically. the CIE recommends that:

- a productivity adjustment should be applied to the cost increase estimated by the Cost Index;
- the productivity adjustment should be based on average economy wide productivity growth over the past ten years;
- if this is less than zero, that no productivity adjustment should be applied; and

³⁰ Ibid p.74.

³¹ Ibid p.74.

the productivity adjustment should be based on either a gross output or gross value-added measures of multi-factor productivity (and appropriately applied as outlined in the CIE's draft report).³²

What are stakeholders' views about applying a productivity adjustment to the outcomes of the taxi cost index?

Do stakeholders have any views concerning the mechanics of the productivity adjustment recommended by the CIE above?

Do stakeholders have evidence to suggest that productivity growth within the taxi industry is faster or slower than the economy wide average?

7 FARE SETTING PROCESS

The CIE makes a number of recommendations aimed at improving the regulatory process. These recommendations acknowledge the current lack of a clear, transparent and regular process for setting fares in Tasmania. These are outlined below.

7.1 Initiation of reviews

The CIE notes that, at present, fare reviews are initiated by industry, largely due to concerns over rising costs, particularly fuel costs. Through the initial consultation, stakeholders noted that without a defined and regular process the industry may be experiencing higher costs for some time until a fare increase is approved.

The CIE notes the following three options for initiating future fare reviews:

- maintain the current process of industry approaching the government when cost rises are significant;
- a price setting agency undertake periodic reviews (eg annually); or
- an industry group submits a proposal for a specific price increase, either at regular intervals or on an ad hoc basis.

Given that there is no single organisation representing the taxi industry in Tasmania and interstate, periodic reviews initiated by government are the common approach used in other jurisdictions to set fares in the taxi industry. Individuals / organisations within the industry are generally free to provide submissions as part of the review process.

Do stakeholders agree with the CIE's recommendation that reviews should be initiated periodically by a price setting agency?

7.2 Length of regulatory period

The appropriate length of a regulatory period may depend on the nature of the industry that is being regulated.

 a long regulatory period creates a predictable operating environment for industry and increases price certainty for consumers. Longer regulatory periods create greater incentives for efficiency given that the regulated business is able to retain any achieved cost savings until the following review period (above any productivity adjustments imposed by the Regulator). a shorter regulatory period may be favoured where this can better balance risks between regulated businesses and consumers. This may be necessary if data used to implement the regulatory review is variable and subject to large forecasting errors.

The CIE notes that, under its recommendations, prices would be adjusted annually through the Taxi Cost Index which may better reflect interim costs when compared to other industries³³. This means that there would be less risk of mismatches with industry cost and fare changes.

Given this, the CIE recommends a major review every four years in which the cost weights are re-examined with fares adjusted mechanically on an annual basis by the cost index.

Do stakeholders agree with the CIE's recommendation that a major review should be conducted every four years with fares adjusted mechanically by the cost index each year?

7.3 Triggers and pass throughs

Within the suggested four year regulatory period there may be major changes in costs that would suggest that prices should be revisited. These changes could lead to a new major review or pass-through of additional costs into prices without considering other items.

The Australian Energy Regulator (AER) has proposed circumstances in which an event should lead to a reopening of the regulatory process³⁴. Under these conditions, prices would be reconsidered where:

- the regulated entity is materially affected by the event;
- the event was beyond the regulated entity's control;
- the event was not contemplated at the time the revenue control decision was made; and
- the benefits of revoking the control decision outweigh the detriment to the regulated entity's customers from revoking the control decision.

That said, the CIE notes that "There is potential for trigger mechanisms to introduce bias into regulatory decisions, given that a regulatory process is usually only re-opened at the request of industry".³⁵ To some extent, this may have been occurring within Tasmania over the past 10 years with fare increases occurring

³³ The CIE (2012) "Setting taxi fares in Tasmania: Draft Report", p.90.

³⁴ Australian Energy Regulator (2012) "Pass-throughs and revenue-cap re-openers: Position paper" December.

when fuel prices rise, there hasn't been any corresponding fare decreases when fuel prices have fallen.

The CIE note that these impacts "...can be minimised where the regulator can monitor events and by imposing a materiality threshold on events".³⁶

There are three potential changes that may lead to a pass through or an interim review of the taxi cost model. These include:

- substantial changes in fuel costs because these would be incorporated into the cost index with a time lag there may be a need for interim price changes. The NSW pricing regulator, IPART, reviews fuel costs at six month intervals;
- changes in regulatory arrangements, such as vehicle specifications; and
- changes in taxation arrangements, such as a change in the level of GST. In most instances, this type of change is known and can be incorporated into earlier pricing determinations. This would involve a straight forward adjustment to the cost index.³⁷

The CIE has recommended that major costs resulting in a greater than a one per cent change in total costs that are not captured by the taxi cost index (such as regulatory and tax changes) should be passed through to taxi fares. The Regulator understands that changing meters to reflect changes in fares is a relatively costly exercise. Given this, a one per cent threshold may be a material threshold where the taxi industry may receive the benefits of a fare increase relative to the cost of changing meters within review periods.

The CIE considers that the administrative costs of reviewing fuel costs at six monthly intervals would outweigh the benefits of doing so in Tasmania. Under this approach, whilst industry may be at risk of facing fuel price spikes between fare increases, industry would also receive the benefits if fuel prices fall below the specified level within the taxi cost index. Furthermore, fuel prices and prices of other items within the cost index, would be adjusted on an annual basis which would be more regular than the current process.

However, through the initial consultation it is understood that some stakeholders may welcome more regular reviews of fuel prices. If fuel prices were monitored six-monthly, a threshold would need to be considered for changing fares. IPART currently monitors LPG fuel costs on a six-monthly basis and makes a recommendation on new maximum fares when LPG costs have changed by more than 20 per cent.³⁸ Following this review, fares may rise or fall depending on the outcome of the fuel price review.

³⁶ The CIE (2012) "Setting taxi fares in Tasmania: Draft Report", p.90.

³⁷ Ibid p.91.

³⁸ IPART (2012) "2012 Review of taxi fares in NSW – Final report". June 2012.

Do stakeholders agree with the CIE's recommendations on triggers and pass throughs?

What is a material threshold for allowing for cost pass throughs during review periods, considering the cost of changing meters?

Would stakeholders like to see six monthly reviews of fuel prices?

If so, considering that the fuel weight in the proposed cost index is around 12 per cent (which means that fuel price rises contribution to overall cost increases is 12 per cent multiplied by the fuel price rise) what would be the threshold for a material change to fuel prices?

7.4 Consultation during reviews

The CIE's draft report contains recommendations with respect to the method and timing of consultation during any future taxi fare setting reviews. In particular, the CIE notes that the consultation process should be proportionate to the issues being addressed.

The CIE therefore recommends undertaking detailed consultation at each major review (every four years) following the consultation models adopted in NSW and Victoria. This involves the following steps:

- an issues paper is released informing stakeholders of the release of the terms of reference, the proposed approach to the review and timelines;
- call for written submissions on the issues paper;
- the holding of a public forum with key stakeholders;
- release of a draft report that summarises the findings and responds to submissions on the issues paper and issues raised at the public forum;
- call for written submissions on the draft report; and
- release of a final report considering all relevant data and submissions.

Additionally, given that the CIE propose the use of the mechanical formula to determine fare increases annually within the regulatory period, it does not recommend consultation be undertaken as part of the annual reset process. Given that fares would be set through the cost index and observed inflators, there would be limited scope for stakeholders and the Regulator to makes changes between major reviews. This is consistent with the Regulator's current approach for annual resets between major reviews for other regulated industries.

How much consultation would stakeholders like during major reviews?

Do stakeholders agree with the CIE's recommendations on consultation?

Do stakeholders believe a shortened process, such as one round of written submission and a draft and final report would be sufficient?

Do stakeholders want a public hearing?

Do stakeholders agree that consultation is unnecessary for annual reviews using the mechanical formula?

7.5 Agency undertaking the review

Taxi fare setting can be undertaken by a government department or by an independent pricing regulator. In NSW and Victoria, independent pricing regulators have historically undertaken the fare setting reviews and have provided recommendations to government. In other states and territories, including Tasmania, the task has been undertaken by the Department of Transport or corresponding agency.

The CIE note that it considers "that it is more important that the processes are transparent and allow for open consultation than that the review be done by a particular agency. However, the independent regulator may be better able to ensure that reviews occur in this way, because this is the common structure used for other pricing reviews. The transparency of arrangements used by government departments has traditionally been far lower than those used by independent regulators."

Who should undertake periodic reviews of taxi fare setting and indexation?

7.6 Funding future reviews

Conducting any regulatory process naturally costs money to employ staff, engage consultants and to cover overheads and the like. The Regulator understands that, given that taxi fare reviews have been infrequent, funds required to undertake reviews of the nature proposed in this Consultation Paper may not necessarily be available or easily obtainable.

The Regulator understands that DIER undertakes fare reviews and associated processes as required, using its ongoing core budget allocation. The Regulator also understands that, in order to fund this inaugural fares Inquiry by the Regulator, DIER has collected a portion of the annual licence fees that have been levied since 2009. The licence fees have been set specifically to recover a range of costs, including for this Inquiry.

The Regulator is currently funded directly by the industries that it regulates. That is, for each regulatory review and process that the Regulator undertakes, it is funded directly by the entities within that industry. Most closely related to the taxi industry is perhaps the Regulator's regulation of Metro and MAIB. The Regulator invoices these entities once every four or five years at the completion of its price review.

These entities are then permitted to recover this cost through the prices they charge consumers.

The practice applied to fund this inaugural Inquiry by the Regulator is consistent with the approach described above. Therefore, one option is to for DIER to simply continue to levy annual licence charges to raise revenue directly from the taxi industry to fund the reviews. The annual fee would be adjusted based on the expected cost of the next review, and other factors such as the number of additional licences issued. This cost would then be included within the proposed taxi cost index to ensure that the cost is directly passed onto taxi passengers, as the Regulator understands has occurred since 2009 with DIER's own cost model.

Subject to the adoption of the review process recommended by the CIE, in funding future reviews, are stakeholders supportive of licence fees continuing to be levied (and potentially increased, as required) increased to fund those reviews?

8 APPENDIX A: TERMS OF REFERENCE

Economic Regulator Act 2009

TAXI FARE METHODOLOGY INQUIRY TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Tasmanian Economic Regulator is to conduct an inquiry under Part 5 of the *Economic Regulator Act 2009* and report to the Transport Commission on appropriate methodologies for setting and indexing taxi fares in Tasmania.

Background

The Transport Commission administers the *Taxi and Luxury Hire Car Industries Act* 2008. The Taxi and Luxury Hire Car Industries Act and the *Taxi Industry Regulations 2008* were developed after a comprehensive review of the previous legislation, which was undertaken during 2006 and 2007. Changes to the Taxi and Luxury Hire Car Industries Act made as a result include:

- a) clarification of the distinction between taxis and luxury hire cars;
- b) improved arrangements for wheelchair-accessible taxis (WATs), including increased availability of WAT licences; and
- c) cessation of the issue of perpetual taxi licences and introduction of new owner-operator taxi licences.

Under the Taxi and Luxury Hire Car Industries Act³⁹, a taxi is a public passenger vehicle that is operating under a licence that authorises the vehicle to be hired on demand within, to or from the taxi area to which the licence relates:

- a) from a taxi zone (rank);
- b) by being hailed; or
- c) by being booked or ordered.

Tasmania is divided into 24 taxi areas, which roughly correspond with the municipal boundaries. The Hobart taxi area comprises the majority of the Greater Hobart area and the Launceston taxi area overlaps with neighbouring taxi areas.

There are four different types of taxi licences:

³⁹ In late 2011 Parliament passed amendments to the Taxi and Luxury Hire Car Industries Act that, among other things, change the definition of a taxi. The amendments are intended to commence in 2013 and will not have a bearing on this Inquiry.

A perpetual taxi licence – which can be bought or sold on the open market and is owned by the licensee in perpetuity or until the licence is sold to another licensee. It can be leased or assigned. It cannot be cancelled. No new perpetual taxi licences are available from the Transport Commission.

An owner-operator taxi licence – which can only be held by the licensee and must be operated by the licensee. It can only be held by a natural person who is accredited to operate a taxi service and it cannot be leased or assigned. It can only be sold to a person who meets the criteria for the issue of a licence. It can be cancelled without compensation under certain circumstances, such as if the licence has been leased. The Commission must make available for issue limited numbers of new owner-operator licences each year in each taxi area. There is no requirement for these licences to be taken up.

A wheelchair-accessible taxi (WAT) licence – which operates with a wheelchairaccessible vehicle, but may also carry non wheelchair-reliant passengers. WATs have a higher fare structure when carrying wheelchair-reliant passengers, which is offset by the provision of higher taxi fare subsidies to these passengers. The WAT fare and subsidy arrangements are currently under review. WAT licences are available on application from the Transport Commission provided the applicant is accredited to provide a taxi service and has a vehicle that is compliant with the *Disability Standards for Accessible Public Transport 2002* and the requirements of the Act.

A temporary taxi licence – which may be issued to an accredited operator of a taxi service for a limited period. It has the same effect as an owner-operator taxi licence for the period it is in force and cannot be bought or sold on the open market.

Taxis must be fitted with an operating taxi roof sign and taximeter. Taxis operating in taxi areas close to metropolitan centres are required to be fitted with a security camera system.

Fares are regulated by a "standard fare" that cannot be exceeded. However, the actual charge for a hiring can be less than the standard fare (as shown on the taximeter) at the driver's discretion.

Current fare setting arrangements

A formal process does not currently exist for reviewing taxi fares in Tasmania. The Department of Infrastructure, Energy and Resources (DIER) maintains a taxi cost model, which was developed by DIER in conjunction with the taxi industry and has been used for a number of years. DIER periodically updates this model, generally at the request of the industry, to evaluate whether recent changes in operating costs could potentially justify a fare increase. DIER also monitors changes in the Consumer Price Index to inform this work.

Once an update of the taxi cost model is completed, DIER circulates a proposal for a fare increase (or for no increase) to the industry for comment. This proposal normally provides a comparison between the change in the cost model and the change in the CPI since the last fare increase. Once industry comments have been received, DIER reviews its proposal and makes a recommendation to the Minister for Sustainable Transport in respect of a fare increase (or no increase). If the Minister approves a recommendation for an increase, this is given effect through amendments to the Taxi Industry Regulations.

Scope of Inquiry

As per section 44 of the TER Act, the Regulator is to inquire into and make recommendations on the most appropriate methodology for:

1. Setting maximum taxi fares in the Tasmanian taxi industry; and

2. Indexing taxi fares to ensure that, over time, fares reflect the actual cost increases facing the Tasmanian taxi industry.

In undertaking the inquiry, the Regulator is to consult with key stakeholders, industry and other persons it considers appropriate.

It is recognised that this consultation process will identify a number of issues that are already seen to be directly related to the setting of fares, in addition to a range of other issues which may also be advanced as having application to the setting and indexation of fares.

The Regulator, in undertaking the inquiry, is therefore to consider the following farerelated issues:

- methods for fare setting;
- the indexation of fares; and
- the relative weighting of fare related components,

together with any other matters relating to the setting and indexation of fares which may be raised during the course of the Inquiry.

The Regulator's Final Report should also recommend:

- the period over which fares are to be indexed (the indexation period); and
- the basis on which, and the process whereby, the methodology may be reviewed before the end of the indexation period eg. where there has been a material and unforeseen change in one or more of the components relevant to determining taxi fares (including defining the threshold for determining what is a material change).

Other than as noted above, in making its recommendations the Regulator is not required to consider the impact of its recommendations on stakeholders, as these are matters for the Transport Commission and the Government ie the Regulator's role is limited to providing advice on the most appropriate method of determining, and indexing, taxi fares.

Inquiry methodology

In accordance with section 45 of the Economic Regulator Act, the Regulator may conduct the Inquiry in such manner as it considers appropriate.

Other reviews

DIER is currently two conducting other reviews relating to taxi industry regulation, these being (i) WAT fares and subsidies; and (ii) the arrangements for the release of new taxi licences.

The WAT fare review is being undertaken in response to concerns that the higher fares charged to wheelchair-reliant people travelling in WATs are discriminatory, regardless of the mitigating effect of the higher fare subsidy paid to these passengers through the Government's Transport Access Scheme (TAS). DIER has consulted with people who use WATs, disability advocacy groups and WAT operators and drivers and is currently preparing a draft report and recommendations. While the quantum of WAT fares has been considered in this review, the main focus has been on the TAS subsidies provided to passengers.

The review of taxi licence release arrangements will enter a preliminary consultation phase in the near future. It will fulfil a commitment made by DIER at the time of the commencement of the Act in 2008 to review the new licensing arrangements after a suitable period of time. The taxi industry has expressed concern that the availability of new licences has had a significant effect on the earnings of existing operators and drivers. As a result, many industry participants would like to see the Government/Transport Commission stop releasing new taxi licences.

The outcomes from these two reviews are not expected to impact directly on the taxi fare inquiry.

Date of Completion

The Tasmanian Economic Regulator is to provide a Final Report to the Transport Commission, the Minister for Sustainable Transport and the Minister for Finance by 14 December 2012 (subsequently amended to 31 May 2013).

Liability for the Costs of this Inquiry

In accordance with section 44(4) of the Economic Regulator Act, the Transport Commission is liable to pay the costs of this inquiry.

9 APPENDIX B: TREATMENT OF PLATE LEASE COSTS IN VICTORIA AND NSW

This appendix outlines the current proposals being discussed in both NSW and Victoria aimed at reducing the value of lease plates and their impact on fares.

9.1 Treatment in NSW

IPART is currently undertaking a review of annual licences for Sydney on behalf of the NSW Department of Transport.

In its issues paper, IPART considered what might be classed as an unreasonable impact on existing licence holders. IPART noted that "We intend to compare licence owners' annual returns on licences with returns on other classes of financial assets (such as government bonds, property and shares) to see whether that may give us some guidance on 'normal' returns, and thus on 'reasonable' impacts."⁴⁰ In its issues paper IPART noted that:

- annual yields to licence holders from leasing a licence have been fairly stable at around 7.5 to 8 per cent per annum for the last ten years (the CIE estimate that the current return is approximately 7.8 per cent in Tasmania based on information collected from industry stakeholders); and
- total annual returns from leasing (lease plate revenue and capital growth) a licence have been around 12 to 14 per cent per annum and have been higher and more stable than returns offered by Australian shares.

In its draft report, IPART has recommended increasing licence releases such that "income from perpetual licences could fall by 10 per cent"⁴¹. This was also set "in the context of a possible reduction in licence lease costs of around 25 per cent over the next 5 years".⁴² IPART also notes that "We think that an initial reduction in licence lease costs of 10 per cent provides an appropriate balance between improved affordability for operators and reduced income for licence owners".⁴³

In the short term this would not impact on fares directly, rather it is aimed to address waiting times in NSW and to induce more taxi trips from "latent demand". Latent

⁴⁰ IPART (2012) "Annual Taxi Licence Release for Sydney 2013/14 – Issues Paper", p.32.

⁴¹ IPART (2012) "Annual Taxi Licence Release for Sydney 2013/14 – Draft Report",p.44.

⁴² Ibid,p.44.

⁴³ Ibid, p.4.

demand may be defined as demand for taxi trips that is not met due to higher than optimal waiting times and higher fares.⁴⁴

In terms of fares IPART notes that it will look more closely at fare issues when it conducts its 2013 fare review. Specifically, "Last year we set the licence lease cost inflator to zero, but we would like to reconsider this and other issues in our fare review, to ensure that the objective of downward pressure on fares is met". ⁴⁵

9.2 Treatment in Victoria

In Victoria taxi fares were last reviewed in 2008 by the Essential Service Commission (ESC). In the 2008 review lease plates (known as assignment fees in Victoria) were included in the taxi cost model based on their value between 2000 and 2004⁴⁶. This was in the context of determining fare adequacy, hence a lower than market price was used. The weight used in the model was subsequently recommended to inflate by CPI to retain its value in nominal terms. The Commission noted that "a base level assignment fee is included and indexed by CPI to ensure that the other cost items are not overrepresented"⁴⁷.

The recent Victorian Taxi Inquiry gave particular attention to the value of lease plates in Victoria and considered the impact of its recommendations on lease plate owners and consumers. The inquiry considered the view of stakeholders particularly those that had purchased lease plates as an investment or viewed it as similar to their superannuation. The inquiry outlined its views that taxi licences are not an investment like a house because there is no physical aspect to them (unlike the land the house is built on). The value of taxi licences, similar to houses, is derived from their scarcity. However taxi licences are scarce due to limited government releases of those licences.⁴⁸

The Inquiry recommended releasing additional licences and reducing the reserve price of licence releases such that annual income from licence plates would fall to around \$20 000 per year in Melbourne. This is a reduction of over 30 per cent which is higher than that recommended by IPART in NSW, at least in the short term.

The Inquiry also noted that the "most substantial financial impact would be felt by licence owners who acquired their licences after 2006"... and suggested that "the Victorian Government consider providing tightly targeted assistance to licence

⁴⁴ IPART (2012) "Annual Taxi Licence Release for Sydney 2013/14 – Issues Paper", p.2.

⁴⁵ IPART (2012) "Annual Taxi Licence Release for Sydney 2013/14 – Draft Report", p.46.

⁴⁶ See ESC (2008) "Final Report Taxi Fare Review 2007-08",p.8.

⁴⁷ Ibid p.10.

⁴⁸ See Section 3.2.2 of Taxi Service Commission (Victoria) (2012) "Customer First: Safety, Service, Choice – Taxi Industry Inquiry Final Summary Report", December 2012, for more information.

holders who suffer significant financial difficulties as a consequence of the reforms".⁴⁹

Finally, the Inquiry recommended that "A review of the taxi fare setting methodology should be commenced as soon as possible. The terms of reference should have regard to the views expressed by the Taxi Industry Inquiry on fare setting methodology, should take into account the differences in industry structure between the taxi industry and other utility industries regulated by the ESC, and should consider fare setting models that account for demand factors in a dynamic way."⁵⁰

The inquiry also responded to submissions suggesting that lease plate costs (assignment values) should be removed from the fare setting model to prevent consumers from underwriting licence values and eliminate the circularity that seems inherent in including payments to licence holders as a cost. The inquiry noted that fares are set by the regulator to recover efficient costs and thus removal would lead to a reduction in the fare level that would reduce licence value to zero. "The inquiry suggests that its approach of fixing assignment values is likely to have a much smoother and more predictable impact for licence holders and operators and, in the longer term, will reduce the significance of assignment fees and licence values in fares."⁵¹ Hence, the Victorian approach may suggest assigning a zero per cent inflator to the licence value cost weight in the model, by fixing the weight (assignment value).

⁴⁹ Taxi Service Commission (Victoria) (2012) "Customer First: Safety, Service, Choice – Taxi Industry Inquiry Final Summary Report", December 2012,p24.

⁵⁰ Ibid p.35.

⁵¹ Ibid p.185.